THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In the Supreme Court

---

**RECEIVED**

MAR 04 2020

APPEAL FROM YORK COUNTY  
Court of Common Pleas  
Post-Conviction Relief

S.C. SUPREME COURT

Roger L. Couch, Circuit Court Judge

---

Appellate Case No.: 2019-001317

---

Jacquese Underwood, ..... Petitioner,

vs.

State of South Carolina, ..... Respondent.

---

PETITION FOR WRIT OF CERTIORARI

---

Tommy A. Thomas, Esq.  
Attorney for Petitioner  
7588 Woodrow Street  
P.O. Box 88  
Irmo, S.C. 29063  
(803) 732-5507

Janell Gregory, Esq.  
Office of the Attorney General  
Attorney for Respondent  
P.O. Box 11549  
Columbia, SC 29211-1549

##

## **QUESTION PRESENTED**

Did the post-conviction relief court erred in not granting relief on the basis plea counsel was ineffective in failing to prepare for or proceed with trial after her motion to suppress evidence was denied and, as a result, cause Petitioner to enter an involuntary guilty plea?

## STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Petitioner is presently confined in the South Carolina Department of Corrections pursuant to orders of commitment of the York County Clerk of Court. Petitioner was indicted during the May 2014 term of the York County Grand Jury for one count of trafficking in cocaine, 400 grams or more (2013-GS-46-2073). Petitioner proceeded to a jury trial on August 25 and 26, 2014, during which pre-trial motions were heard. Leah B. Moody, Esquire represented Petitioner and Matthew Shelton, Esquire of the Sixteenth Circuit Solicitor's Office prosecuted the case. After a recess, trial resumed on September 2, 2014 whereupon Petitioner entered a no contest plea to conspiracy of trafficking cocaine between 28-100g, second offense.<sup>1</sup> On the same date, the Honorable Lee S. Alford sentenced Petitioner to a negotiated term of imprisonment of twelve years and six months. Petitioner did not appeal his conviction or sentence.

Petitioner filed an application for post-conviction relief on March 16, 2015, by and through Tommy A. Thomas, Esquire, in which he alleged ineffective assistance of counsel and involuntary guilty plea. A return was filed August 12, 2015 by the State. An evidentiary hearing on Petitioner's Application was convened on November 8, 2016 at the Moss Justice Center in York, South Carolina before the Honorable Roger L. Couch. Petitioner was represented by Tommy A. Thomas, Esquire. Justin J. Hunter, Esquire represented the Respondent. An order of dismissal was signed by the Judge Couch on August 27, 2018. Petitioner filed a motion to alter or amend on September 13, 2018, to which Respondent filed a return on or about December 18, 2018, and to which Petitioner filed a reply January 14, 2019. A hearing on this motion was held May 6, 2019

---

<sup>1</sup> Petitioner notes that, across the various documents in the record referencing his charge and conviction, it is sometimes stated that he is convicted of trafficking cocaine, 28-100g, second offense and sometimes conspiracy to traffic cocaine, 29-100g, second offense. Though these fall under the same code section, there were several instances where a distinction was made in court between the two, particularly if having possession of imitation drugs constituted possession.

before Judge Couch at the Richland County Courthouse with venue waived by agreement of the parties. An order denying Petitioner's motion was filed July 9, 2019. A timely Notice of Appeal was filed.

## STATEMENT OF FACTS

Petitioner, Jacquese Underwood, was indicted during the May 14 term of the York County Grand Jury for one count of trafficking in cocaine, 400 grams or more (2013-GS-46-2073). Petitioner entered a no contest plea to conspiracy of tracking cocaine between 28-100g, second offense. This plea was entered after two days of argument on pre-trial motions, mostly consisting of requests to suppress certain evidence.

The underlying incident was that, on October 30, 2012, a package was delivered via UPS to a home on Shenandoah Circle in Rock Hill, South Carolina. Shortly after the package was delivered, a car drove by slowly, leading Petitioner to bring the package inside the home with him. (App. p.275) Shortly thereafter, he placed the package in the trunk of his car, which was parked in the home's garage, and backed it out into the driveway. (App. p.275) At this time, law enforcement officers descended upon the residence, leading both Petitioner and his co-defendant who had driven by as an alleged lookout, to flee. (App. p.275) Petitioner attempted to flee through the backdoor of the home but was stopped by officers, so he locked himself in the home. (App. p.275) Eventually, he opened the residence for the officers who had an anticipatory search warrant for the residence. (App. p.275) Co-defendant, Duane Harrison, fled in his vehicle and then on foot as he attempted to evade officers. (App. p.275) As he fled, he threw several cell phones into the woods which were later recovered by law enforcement officers. (App. p.275)

Unknown to the co-defendants at the time was that this package had previously been intercepted by the Drug Enforcement Agency Task Force at the UPS facility in Rock Hill, South Carolina. (App. p.272-3) Agent Frank Finch and his K9 responded to a report of a suspicious package and, upon conducting a lineup, the K9 alerted to this package. (App. p.273) A search warrant was obtained and executed, revealing what officers estimated to be a kilogram of cocaine.

(App. p.273-4) The cocaine was removed and replaced with imitation cocaine then re-sealed so officers could conduct a controlled delivery. (App. p.274) The package was addressed to Shaerica White who was determined to be a resident of the address to which the package was directed. An officer from Lexington County was dressed as a UPS delivery driver and sent to make the delivery, as another officer was in the neighborhood conducting surveillance. (App. p.274) It was he who saw Harrison driving through the yard and noticed the signal given to Petitioner to retrieve the package. (App. p.274)

After Petitioner was detained in the home, officers located the target package in the trunk of his car, as well as a cell phone in the front seat of his car. (App. p.275) This cell phone's number was saved as "Jacq" in the contacts of one of the cell phones tossed by his co-defendant. (App. p.275) Text messages between these numbers included Petitioner's phone sending the address of the home where the package was delivered to his co-defendant. (App. p.276)

Prior to trial, Petitioner's counsel filed numerous pre-trial motions that she summarized during the hearing as follows:

- 1) I would ask the Court to limit any testimony coming from Dalmicos Hemphill as it relates to my client and only use his testimony, if necessary, for rebuttal purposes;
- 2) Limit the text messages prior to October 30, 2012; I believe they have amended their indictment which is -- it encompasses some text messages that show they communicated, but it doesn't give enough -- it's not credible in my opinion, and I think they will be subject to not coming in under the 403.
- 3) And then last one, the one that is, I think, really quick, is preventing any testimony from State's witness Shureka White regarding any prior knowledge of Mr. Underwood's criminal history.

(App. p.5-6) The State agreed to the stipulations of the third motion. Later, Petitioner's counsel also presented to the trial court that she was going to challenge the search warrant for the intercepted parcel. (App. p.28) As noted above, despite lengthy testimony over two days of pretrial hearings, both defendants entered pleas after a weekend break.

In the Petitioner's Application for Post-Conviction Relief, he alleges two main grounds:

1. Ineffective assistance of counsel
2. Involuntary guilty plea

During the hearing, these morphed into the two grounds of ineffective assistance of counsel for failing to prepare for trial and ineffective assistance of counsel by advising Applicant to plead no contest, which contained elements of the allegation of involuntary guilty plea. The same was reflected in the order produced after the hearing.

The first witness at the post-conviction relief hearing was Leah Moody, plea counsel for Petitioner. She testified that, until they returned to court after the pre-trial motions, this case was always going to go to trial, as Petitioner maintained his innocence, and this became the theory of the case. (App. p.347) She further testified that plea offers had been made, including one that was contingent on Petitioner testifying on behalf of the State, which Petitioner refused to consider despite plea counsel's recommendation. (App. p.313, lines3-4; p.330, lines8-11) During her testimony, plea counsel testified that before its ruling on the record, the trial court informed counsel it would be allowing entry of the text messages. (App. p.328) This effectively changed the defense's position, she stated, as it would be much more difficult to keep out any argument regarding conspiracy. (App. p.328; p.330, lines 19-22) This, in addition to the discovery that Petitioner's co-defendant was intending to plead guilty and perhaps implicate him, led plea counsel to outline to Petitioner the difficulties he would have at trial. (App. p.346, line 24-p.347, line 21)

Regarding her preparation and arguments, plea counsel testified that she reviewed all discovery, including the volumes of text messages produced. (App. p.339, lines 4-9) Further, she examined the chain of custody of the drugs found in the parcel but did not argue the way the imitation drugs played into the chain. (App. p.331, lines 9-14) She stated that her focus was on

keeping out evidence of a conspiracy and the existence of drugs because Petitioner claimed that he thought children's books were in the package per what Ms. White told him. (App. p.342, lines 21-23)

The next witness was Petitioner himself, who testified to the facts as he recalled them, including that Ms. White was an ex-girlfriend, they had breakfast that morning, and he hung out at her house. (App. p.362, lines 21-22) She was expecting some books to be delivered and asked him to drop them off at her work if they came before she got home. (App. p.363, line 22 – p.364, line 4) He also testified that there was another man living in her house, her current boyfriend Gregory Parker. (App. p.363, lines 15-19) Petitioner testified he told plea counsel he was concerned that Mr. Parker may be involved in drug dealing, as he had prior drug convictions, but plea counsel did not follow up on the information. (App. p.364, line 23 – p.365, line 6, lines 4-10) He further testified that it was his understanding the phone numbers did not match – the contact in the co-defendant's phone was "JOC, " not "Jacq," and the numbers were not the same, plus some of the phones were purchased in California where he had never visited. (App. p.367, lines 13-20) Petitioner testified that he did not discuss suppression issues with plea counsel when it came to the drugs, nor did they discuss chain of custody of either the real drugs or the imitation drugs. (App. p.313, lines 3-24) He testified that it was not possible for anyone to find drugs in his car because there were no drugs. (App. p.345, lines 12-22) Further, he did not know that the drugs had been substituted until he got to trial and, therefore, did not have a chance to speak with counsel about this fact. (App. p.370-2)

Petitioner testified that, on the morning he entered his plea, plea counsel advised him to do so. (App. p.378, lines 6-9) He further testified that he did not believe his plea was freely, voluntarily, knowingly, and intelligently entered because he did nothing, knew he was innocent,

and did not understand the elements of the case. (App. p.378, line 10-p.379, line 4) He further testified that he believed much of what plea counsel said was not true, including that he was offered multiple pleas, when he was only offered one plea of twelve years to testify for the State. (App. p.379, lines 17-23) Further, he testified that plea counsel knew the text messages upon which the State was relying to make its conspiracy case did not come from his phone. (App. p.388, line 22 – p.389, line 8)

The third witness for Petitioner was his mother, Vanessa Simpson. The bulk of her testimony was to relay that Petitioner was still close with Ms. White and her children. It was not unusual for Petitioner to have dealings with her children or their belongings, including visiting her house. (App. p.395, lines 3-9)

The State called Matthew Woodrow Shelton, the assistant solicitor from the Sixteenth Circuit who prosecuted the case. He began by testifying that this case involved a lot of investigation and it took several months before he was comfortable conveying a plea offer. When he did, it was for twelve years, contingent upon Petitioner testifying against his co-defendant. (App. p.400, lines 3-12) He provided extensive testimony regarding recovering the phones, analyzing the data, and connecting the dots as to who was talking to whom. However, he was satisfied that, approximately two weeks prior to the package's delivery, Petitioner's co-defendant sent Petitioner a text with the address of this home, and that other texts outlined a similar pattern of behavior. (App. p.402, line 24 – p.403, line 2) He testified that the co-defendant was willing to testify against Petitioner, even though law enforcement considered co-defendant to be the mastermind, and this is what led to the development of the scheme where both pleaded to the same charge and received the same sentence. (App. p.404, line 13 – p.405, line 5) He further testified

that Ms. White was not charged based on the information and advice of law enforcement, who felt that she was honest and truly did not know what was happening. (App. p.408, lines 2-15)

#### Post-Conviction Relief Court's Findings

##### Ineffective assistance of counsel for failing to prepare for trial

The post-conviction relief court found plea counsel was not deficient in her handling of the pretrial hearing or plea negotiations. It further found that she made motions to limit testimony and to suppress text messages. She made arguments regarding admissibility and prejudice under Rule 403, SCRE. The court found her testimony credible that she thoroughly reviewed all evidence and discovery material and was in trial posture until the motion to suppress the text messages was unsuccessful. Petitioner failed to provide credible evidence that there was any way counsel could have better prepared for trial.

##### Ineffective assistance of counsel by advising Applicant to plead no contest

The post-conviction relief court reviewed the standard necessary to challenge a guilty plea via collateral attack and applied the elements to the case at hand. It determined that Petitioner knew the charges against him, his constitutional rights, and the consequences of entering a plea. The court found that the trial judge's decision to admit the cell phone records and substantial evidence against Petitioner resulted in plea counsel's recommendation that he accept the offer instead of proceeding. Therefore, she was not deficient in her representation. Further, the court found that the plea waiver signed by Petitioner explained all information relevant to the plea, as well as that Petitioner received a substantially lower sentence by pleading than he faced by going to trial. Such entry into this plea was done freely, voluntarily, knowingly, and intelligently.

### Post-trial Motion and Ruling

On September 13, 2018, Petitioner filed a motion to alter or amend due to the order of dismissal lacking specific testimony, certain allegations were omitted and not addressed by the court, and that an affidavit of Gregory Parker needed to be addressed by the court. The motion included an appendix of testimony that should have been added to the order. Regarding the affidavit, Petitioner provided to the court – between the hearing and the issuance of the order of dismissal – an affidavit of Gregory Parker stating that he often ordered clothing and other merchandise from the same company in California that sent the suspicious parcel. During the time frame of the incident at hand, he ordered a package that he never received.

A hearing on this motion was held May 6, 2018 in Richland County before Judge Couch. The court declined to reopen the record in this case to consider and address the affidavit of Mr. Parker, holding it may be addressed as newly-discovered evidence in a subsequent post-conviction relief action. Further, the court found that there was no need to alter or amend the order as written.

## ARGUMENT

Did the post-conviction relief court err in not granting relief on the basis plea counsel was ineffective in failing to prepare for or proceed with trial after her motion to suppress evidence was denied and, as a result, did Petitioner enter an involuntary guilty plea?

### Standard of Review and Applicable Law

For post-conviction relief cases

In post-conviction relief actions, the applicant bears the burden of proving the allegations in the application. Butler v. State, 286 S.C. 441, 334 S.E.2d 813 (1985). Where the application alleges ineffective assistance of counsel as a ground for relief, the applicant must prove that “counsel’s conduct so undermined the proper functioning of the adversarial process that the trial cannot be relied upon as having produced a just result.” Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668, 104 S.Ct. 2051 (1984); Butler, 286 S.C. at 442. The proper measure of performance is whether the attorney provide representation within the range of competence required in criminal cases. The court presume the counsel rendered adequate assistance and made all significant decisions in the exercise of reasonable professional judgment. Strickland, 466 U.S. at 690. The Applicant must overcome this presumption in order to receive relief. Cherry v. State, 300 S.C. 115, 386 S.E.2d 624 (1989). Counsel’s assistance is considered constitutionally ineffective when “counsel’s conduct so undermined the proper functioning of the adversarial process that the trial cannot be relied on as having produced a just result.” Strickland, 466 U.S. at 687-88.

The reviewing court applies a two-pronged test in evaluating allegations of ineffective assistance of counsel. Franklin v. Catoe, 346 S.C. 563, 570, 552, S.E.2d 718, 722 (2001). First, the applicant must prove that counsel’s performance was deficient. Under this prong, the court measures an attorney’s performance by its “reasonableness under professional norms.” Cherry, 300 S.C. at 117, 386 S.E.2d at 625, citing Strickland. Second, counsel’s deficient performance

must have prejudiced the applicant such that “there is a reasonable probability that, but for counsel’s unprofessional errors, the result of the proceeding would have been different.” Cherry, 300 S.C. at 117-18, 286 S.E.2d at 625.

For post-conviction relief appeals

The standard of review in post-conviction relief cases is entirely dependent on the specific issues raised. Smalls v. State, 422 S.C. 174, 180, 810 S.E.2d 836, 839 (2018). During review of factual findings made by the post-conviction relief court, the appellate court will defer to the findings and uphold them if they are supported by any evidence of probative value appearing in the record. Sellner v. State, 416 S.C. 606, 610, 787 S.E.2d 525, 527 (2016). Alternately, when reviewing a question of law, an appellate court will consider the matter *de novo* and is not required to defer to the post-conviction relief court’s rulings. Jamison v. State, 410 S.C. 456, 465, 765 S.E.2d 123, 127 (2014).

The post-conviction relief court erred in not granting relief on the basis plea counsel was ineffective in failing to prepare for or proceed with trial after her motion to suppress evidence was denied and, as a result, Petitioner entered an involuntary guilty plea.

Petitioner asserts his trial attorney was ineffective for, *inter alia*, failing properly prepare for trial. A major point in this case is that the parcel of which Petitioner had possession did not contain illegal substances when he possessed it. The relevant statute is S.C. Code Ann. § 44-53-0372(e)(2)(b)(2), part (e) stating that, “any person who knowingly sells, manufactures, cultivates, delivers, purchases, or brings into this State, or who provides financial assistance or otherwise aids, abets, attempts, or conspires to sell, manufacture, cultivate, deliver, purchase, or bring into this State, or who is knowingly in actual or constructive possession or who knowingly attempts to become in actual or constructive possession of...” with subsection (b) pertaining to “cocaine or

mixtures containing cocaine” and the further subsections delineating punishment based on weight of the drug and number of offense.

Based on the evidence presented at pre-trial motions and in the post-conviction relief hearing, at no time does anyone allege that Petitioner was in actual or constructive possession of cocaine. Certainly, Solicitor Shelton argues that Petitioner was in constructive possession of a package once containing cocaine, and it is reasonable to believe that, since this package once contained cocaine, a drug-sniffing canine may alert to the same. However, Petitioner never possessed cocaine, therefore not being able to meet the elements of the statute in that manner. This fact was never brought to light by plea counsel because she never intended to challenge the chain of custody of the real cocaine or the imitation drugs. (App. p.331, lines 12-16, p.333, lines 1-10)

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