STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE SUPREME COURT

RECEIVED

Jul 27 2020

S.C. SUPREME COURT

On Petition for Writ of Certiorari to York County
Lee S. Alford, Plea Judge
Roger L. Couch, Post-Conviction Relief Judge

Appellate Case No. 2019-001317

JACQUESE UNDERWOOD,

Petitioner,

v.

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA,

Respondent.

RETURN TO PETITION FOR WRIT OF CERTIORARI

ALAN WILSON
Attorney General

MEGAN HARRIGAN JAMESON
Senior Assistant Deputy Attorney General
SC Bar No. 100108

Post Office Box 11549
Columbia, South Carolina 29211
(803) 734-3737

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

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

However, the record clearly establishes Petitioner elected to accept a favorable plea offer from the State, allowing him to reduce his sentencing exposure dramatically by pleading no contest to a lesser-included offense for a negotiated twelve-and-a-half years of imprisonment, and the no contest plea was knowingly, voluntarily, and intelligently with the advice of competent counsel who thoroughly challenged the State's evidence and the indictment through a variety of pre-trial motions. The post-conviction relief court properly determined Petitioner's no contest plea was knowing, voluntary, and intelligent and counsel was properly prepared to handle Petitioner's case should Petitioner have elected to continue forward with his trial. These findings are not controlled by an error of law and are supported by the record. This Court should deny certiorari.

The Sixth and Fourteenth Amendments to the United States Constitution guarantee Petitioner, like all other defendants, the right to effective assistance of counsel. Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668 (1984); Taylor v. State, 404 S.C. 350, 359, 745 S.E.2d 97, 101 (2013). In a post-conviction relief action, the applicant bears the burden of proving the allegations by a preponderance of the evidence—a mere allegation of ineffective assistance is not sufficient to warrant granting relief. Rule 71.1(e), SCRPC; Butler v. State, 286 S.C. 441, 442, 334 S.E.2d 813, 814 (1985). The reviewing court applies the two-part test outlined in Strickland to determine whether counsel's conduct “was so ineffective as to require reversal” of the applicant's conviction or sentence. 466 U.S. at 687. First, the applicant must show that counsel's performance was deficient; and second, that the deficient performance prejudiced the applicant. Id. at 668; Butler, 286 S.C. at 442, 334 S.E.2d at 814.

In order to prove deficient performance, the applicant must show counsel's representation

S.C. 373, 271 S.E.2d 319 (1980) (since an alibi derives its potency as a defense from the fact that it involves the physical impossibility of the accused's guilt, a purported alibi which leaves it possible for the accused to be the guilty person is no alibi at all).

fell below an objective standard of “reasonableness under prevailing professional norms.” Cherry v. State, 300 S.C. 115, 117–18, 386 S.E.2d 624, 625 (1989). The proper measure of performance is whether the attorney provided representation within the range of competence required in criminal cases. Butler, 286 S.C. at 442, 334 S.E.2d at 814.

The second, or “prejudice” prong of Strickland is rooted in the very purpose of the Sixth Amendment guarantee of counsel—to ensure a defendant has the assistance necessary to justify reliance on the outcome of the proceeding. Id. at 691–92. In order to prove prejudice, an applicant must demonstrate counsel’s deficient performance prejudiced the applicant such that “there is a reasonable probability that, but for counsel’s unprofessional errors, the result of the proceeding would have been different.” Cherry, 300 S.C. at 117-18, 386 S.E.2d at 625. A reasonable probability is a probability “sufficient to undermine confidence in the outcome.” Strickland, 466 U.S. at 694. Thus, it is not enough “to show the errors had some conceivable effect” on the outcome of the proceeding—counsel’s errors must be “so serious as to deprive the defendant of a fair trial.” Id. at 687 (emphasis added).

Because the Sixth Amendment right to counsel also applies to a defendant entering a guilty plea, Hill v. Lockhart extended the two-part Strickland test to challenge guilty pleas based on ineffective assistance of counsel.” Hill, 474 U.S. 52; cf. Padilla, 559 U.S. at 373 (recognizing the guilty plea process is a “critical phase of litigation” for purposes of the Sixth Amendment right to effective assistance of counsel). A claim of ineffective assistance of guilty plea counsel requires the applicant present evidence satisfying two prongs: first, evidence that counsel’s performance was deficient; and second, evidence that counsel’s deficient performance prejudiced the defendant by causing him to plead guilty rather than go to trial. Hill, 474 U.S. 52.

For all practical purposes, a no contest plea is treated as a guilty plea when reviewed on

post-conviction relief. See Deal v. State, 338 S.C. 455, 456, 527 S.E.2d 112, 112–13 (2000) (“A plea of nolo contendere is for all practical purposes treated as a guilty plea.”); Kibler v. State, 267 S.C. 250, 254, 227 S.E.2d 199, 201 (1976) (internal citations omitted) (“A plea of Nolo contendere literally interpreted means ‘I do not wish to contend.’ For all practical purposes it is a plea of guilty in so far as the consequences in the particular case in which it is pled. ‘Like a plea of guilty (it) leaves open for review only the sufficiency of the indictment and waives all defenses other than that the indictment charges no offense. Of course, like a guilty plea, it is subject to attack on the issue of the plea being made knowingly and voluntarily.’”).

When reviewing a guilty plea, the analysis of counsel’s performance under the first prong of Strickland remains unchanged—the applicant must show counsel’s representation fell below the objective standard of reasonableness demanded of attorneys in criminal cases. Hill, 474 U.S. at 58–59; accord Thompson v. State, 340 S.C. 112, 115, 531 S.E.2d 294, 296 (2000). An applicant alleging his plea was induced by ineffective assistance of counsel must prove counsel’s advice to plead guilty was not “within the competence demanded of attorneys in criminal cases.” Hill, 474 U.S. at 56.

The second, or “prejudice” prong, however, “focuses on whether counsel’s constitutionally ineffective performance affected the outcome of the plea process.” Id. at 58–59. Specifically, when an applicant claims counsel’s deficient performance caused him to accept a plea, the applicant “must show that there is a reasonable probability that, but for [plea] counsel’s [alleged] errors, he would not have pleaded guilty and would have insisted on going to trial.” Id. at 59. This inquiry “focuses on a defendant’s decisionmaking” and does not turn on the outcome of a defendant’s actual criminal proceeding or potential outcome had a defendant chosen to proceed to trial. Lee v. United States, 582 U.S. ___, 137 S. Ct. 1958, 1966 (2017). However, an

applicant must convince the court that a decision to reject the plea bargain would have been rational under the circumstances. Padilla, 559 U.S. at 372. The question here is whether the applicant, if correctly informed of circumstances surrounding the plea, would have pleaded guilty—not whether counsel would have still advised him or her to plead guilty. Turner v. State, 335 S.C. 382, 385, 517 S.E.2d 442, 444 (1999).

Surmounting Strickland's high bar is never an easy task, and the strong societal interest in finality has “special force with respect to convictions based on guilty pleas.” Lee, 582 U.S. ___, 137 S. Ct. at 1967 (internal citations and quotation marks omitted); cf. Hill, 474 U.S. at 58 (“[R]equiring a ‘prejudice’ showing from defendants who seek to challenge the validity of their guilty pleas on the ground of ineffective assistance of counsel ‘will serve the fundamental interest in the finality of guilty pleas.’”). Reviewing “[c]ourts should not upset a plea solely because of post hoc assertions from a defendant about how he would have pleaded but for his attorney’s deficiencies. Lee, 582 U.S. ___, 137 S. Ct. at 1967. Rather, judges should “look to contemporaneous evidence to substantiate a defendant’s expressed preferences. Id. In determining whether a guilty plea was taken in accordance with constitutional standards, the reviewing judge must analyze and consider the entire record, including the transcript of the plea and the evidence presented at the PCR hearing. Harres, 282 S.C. at 134, 318 S.E.2d at 361.

The performance and prejudice standards, however, “do not establish mechanical rules; [t]he ultimate focus of inquiry must be on the fundamental fairness of the proceeding whose result is being challenged.” Id. at 696. Moreover, “there is no reason for a court deciding an ineffective assistance claim to approach the inquiry in the same order or even to address both components of the inquiry if the defendant makes an insufficient showing on one.” Id. at 697. The court “need not determine whether counsel’s performance was deficient before examining

the prejudice suffered by the defendant as a result of the alleged deficiencies. Id. If it is easier to dispose of an ineffectiveness claim on the ground of lack of sufficient prejudice, the court may evaluate the prejudice prong only. Id.

“[I]t is the prerogative of any person to waive his rights, confess, and plead guilty, under judicially defined safeguards, which are adequately enforced.” Reed v. Becka, 333 S.C. 676, 685, 511 S.E.2d 396, 401 (Ct. App. 1999). Accordingly, because a criminal defendant waives several constitutional rights by pleading guilty or no contest, the Due Process Clause requires that guilty pleas are entered into voluntarily, knowingly, and intelligently. Boykin v. Alabama, 395 U.S. 238 (1969); Pittman v. State, 337 S.C. 597, 524 S.E.2d 623 (1999).

To be intelligent, a plea must be made by a mentally competent defendant who understands both the charges against him or her and the consequences of his or her plea. Brady v. United States, 397 U.S. 742, 748 (1970). To be voluntary, a plea must be free of threats or other coercion that would impermissibly distort the defendant’s choice. Id. at 755; see also United States v. Smith, 440 F.2d 521, 528–529 (7th Cir. 1971) (Stevens, J., dissenting) (explaining voluntariness relates to the trustworthiness of the admission of guilt and binding character of the waiver of the constitutional protections which would be available to the accused if he elected to stand trial).

Before a court can accept a guilty or no contest plea, the defendant must be advised of the constitutional rights he or she is waiving; the right to a jury trial, the right to confront one’s accusers, and the privilege against self-incrimination. Boykin, 395 U.S. at 243. Additionally, in order to knowingly and voluntarily plead guilty or no contest, the defendant must have a full understanding of the consequences of the plea, including the nature and crucial elements of the offense(s); the maximum and any mandatory minimum penalty; and the nature of the

constitutional rights being waived. Pittman, 337 S.C. at 599, 524 S.E.2d at 624.

However, it is “well established that a guilty plea is not rendered invalid because it represents a compromise by defendant, thrusts a difficult judgment upon him, or is motivated by fear of greater punishment.” United States v. Cox, 464 F.2d 937, 942 (6th Cir. 1972) (citing Brady, 397 U.S. 742). The State may properly encourage guilty or contest pleas either by being more lenient to those who enter such pleas, Brady, 397 U.S. at 750-753, or by increasing the risks of punishment on those who do not. North Carolina v. Alford, 400 U.S. 25, 37 (1970). The standard for determining the validity of a guilty plea is “whether the plea represents a voluntary and intelligent choice among the alternative courses of action open to the defendant.” Id. at 31.

A defendant’s knowing and voluntary waiver of statutory or constitutional rights must be established by a complete record, and “may be accomplished by colloquy between court and defendant, between court and defendant’s counsel, or both.” State v. Ray, 310 S.C. 431, 437, 427 S.E.2d 171, 174 (1993); see also Wolfe v. State, 326 S.C. 158, 485 S.E.2d 367 (1997) (guilty plea not involuntary where the colloquy demonstrated the trial judge asked defendant twice whether he understood there were no promises and that no sentencing recommendations were binding on the judge). To ensure the defendant understands the consequences of his or her guilty or no contest plea, the trial judge “usually questions the defendant about the facts surrounding the crime and punishment that could be imposed.” Dover v. State, 304 S.C. 433, 434–35, 405 S.E.2d 391, 392 (1991). However, the trial judge “does not have to direct the defendant’s attention to every consequence of his plea provided the record reveals affirmative awareness of the consequences of a guilty plea.” Carter v. State, 329 S.C. 355, 362, 495 S.E.2d 773, 776 (1998).

The voluntariness of a guilty plea, however, “is not determined by an examination of the specific inquiry made by the sentencing judge alone, but is determined from both the record made at the time of the entry of the guilty plea and the record of the post-conviction hearing.” Harres, 282 S.C. at 133, 318 S.E.2d at 361. In evaluating an allegation on PCR that a guilty or no contest plea was based on inaccurate advice of counsel, the transcript of the guilty plea hearing will be considered to determine whether any possible error by counsel was cured by the information conveyed at the plea hearing. Wolfe, 326 S.C. at 165, 485 S.E.2d at 370; cf. Rayford v. State, 314 S.C. 46, 443 S.E.2d 805 (1994) (finding that, where the transcript of the guilty plea proceeding refuted applicant’s claim that he did not understand the terms of a plea bargain, granting PCR was inappropriate notwithstanding applicant’s claim his lawyer misadvised him).

An applicant who enters a plea on the advice of counsel may “only attack voluntary, knowing and intelligent character of the plea by showing that plea counsel’s representation fell below an objective standard of reasonableness and that there is a reasonable probability that, but for counsel’s errors, the [Applicant] would not have pled guilty, but would have insisted on going to trial.” Roscoe v. State, 345 S.C. 16, 20, 546 S.E.2d 417, 419 (2001).

In the present case, Petitioner failed to meet his burden of proof of establishing that his counsel was ineffective or that his no contest plea was not knowingly, voluntarily, or intelligently entered. The record from the general sessions proceeding and the post-conviction relief proceeding all establish Petitioner entered a knowing, voluntary, and intelligent plea with the advice of competent counsel, who was thoroughly prepared for trial, challenged the State’s evidence through a variety of pre-trial motions, and ultimately advised Petitioner to accept a favorable plea offer from the State based on the strength of the State’s case clearly establishing a conspiracy to traffic cocaine.

The record clearly establishes counsel was properly prepared for trial. Counsel testified she had sufficient time to prepare Petitioner's case for trial and the strength of her defense was arguing for suppression of the text messages between Petitioner and his co-defendant because these messages established Petitioner was involved in a conspiracy to traffic cocaine. (App. 316). Counsel testified she also intended to argue that Petitioner's former girlfriend, Ms. White, had set Petitioner up and that Petitioner believed he was merely retrieving children's books for her and had no knowledge of the cocaine. (App. 318-19, 332-33). She testified she thoroughly reviewed all discovery with Petitioner. (App. 333-34, 354). Counsel testified she was prepared to go forward with Petitioner's trial on the day he elected to accept the State's plea offer. (App. 346). In its order of dismissal, the post-conviction relief court specifically found counsel's testimony as to her preparation for trial credible and found that counsel's testimony "shows she thoroughly reviewed all evidence and discovery material with Applicant and was in a trial posture up until the motion to suppress the text messages was unsuccessful." (App. 432). The court further found the record clearly established Petitioner's no contest plea was knowing, voluntary, and intelligent. (App. 433). Ample evidence supports these findings. The post-conviction relief court properly denied relief and this Court should deny certiorari.

CONCLUSION

For the foregoing reasons, the petition for a writ of certiorari should be denied.